European Network of the Heads of Environment Protection Agencies (EPA Network) - Interest group on Green and Circular Economy

– Discussion paper –

NOTE on Service Life of Products

Countering Obsolescence

March 2018

Authors:

Ines Oehme, Larsolov Olsson, Ari Nissinen, Francesca Montevecchi, Herwig Unnerstall, Christoph Rotzetter NOTE on Service Life of Products - Countering Obsolescence

Date: March 2018

Authors

Ines Oehme Larsolov Olsson Ari Nissinen Francesca Montevecchi Herwig Unnerstall Christoph Rotzetter German Environment Agency, Germany Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Sweden Finnish Environment Institute, Finland Environment Agency Austria, Austria German Environment Agency, Germany Swiss Federal Office for the Environment, Switzerland

Corresponding author: Ines.Oehme@uba.de



This position paper is the result of the work of the EPA Network's Interest Group onGreen and Circular Economy. While it reflects the inputs of all participants of the Interest Group, it is only endorsed in this form by those Agencies mentioned below.

This paper is supported by the following agencies:

Environment Agency Austria (Austria), Finnish Environment Institute – SYKE (Finland), German Environment Agency (Germany), Italian Institute for Environmental Protection and Research - ISPRA (Italy), Portuguese Environment Agency (Portugal), Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (Sweden), Federal Office for the Environment - FOEN (Switzerland), PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency (The Netherlands).

Table of contents

1	Framing the problem					
2	Product	lifetime	8			
	2.1	Basic principles governing technical product lifetime	8			
	2.2	Lifetimes: Satisfaction, Desires and Expectations	. 10			
	2.3	Reparability	. 11			
	2.3.1	Socioeconomic impacts	. 12			
	2.3.2	Taxation rebate	. 12			
	2.4	Consumer information on lifetime and guarantee	. 13			
	2.5	Eco-labels and durability	. 13			
	2.6	Product Group examples	. 14			
	2.6.1	Data on electrical and electronic appliances	. 14			
	2.6.2	Textiles Useful Life	. 15			
	2.6.3	Regulation for Motor Vehicles	16			
3	Core actions and policy instruments					
4	Literatur	e	21			

Figures

Figure 1:	Bathtub curve of failure rate (Weibull distribution)8
Figure 2:	Percentages of replaced large household appliances according to age and reason for replacement [2]15
Figure 3:	Car Emission Technology Useful Life compliance at x1000 km17

Tables

Table 1:	Customer satisfaction with life time of devices based on an
	internet-survey [2]11
Table 2:	Average service life of products. Experience values in
	years15

1 Framing the problem

Environment may benefit from the use of fewer and better products. Both energy and resource use can be reduced by extending the service life¹ of products. These may be designed and manufactured to last longer or to be easily repairable, e.g. through availability of replacement and spare parts, or they can be kept longer in the economy e.g. through re-use and re-sell. As will be exemplified later, available data show that the service life for some product categories is decreasing. For some years now, this phenomenon has been discussed under the term "obsolescence", even as "planned obsolescence". The term obsolescence describes several reasons as to why a product is no longer in use [1, 2]:

- defects due to lack of performance of materials or components (material obsolescence),
- lack of interoperability of software and hardware (functional obsolescence),
- refraining from carrying out repairs on grounds of cost, if the gap between the cost of repairing and the cost of a new item is too small (economic obsolescence), and
- the desire for a new item despite the fact that the old one is still functional (psychological obsolescence).

The European Economic and Social Committee, the European Parliament, the European Commission in the EU action plan for the Circular Economy as well as several organizations and Member States dealt with the issue of obsolescence and proposed recommendations for actions [3-8]. The interest group on Green and Circular Economy of the EPA network took these positions into account and explores in this paper which instruments are available and which measures may be applied as priority, in order to secure a minimum lifetime and to prolong service life of products. Thereby, acting on lifetime of products should relate to all four types of obsolescence, but in this report the focus is especially on material obsolescence, addressing quality aspects of products.

One focus of the discussion so far have been energy related products and especially electric and electronic equipment. This paper stresses the importance of this product category, but it also explores the need to widen the view to non-energy related products.

A study on behalf of the European Parliament revealed "that for the most part, the concept of a longer lifetime for products is currently not explicitly present in policies and regulations in the EU. Thus, the current policy framework does not provide sufficient mechanisms to guide and regulate longer products' lifetime. Although initiatives promoting ecodesign, ecoinnovation and the circular economy indicate an ambition to promote redesign of products and to consider and label the durability of products, the selection of pilot products remains on the horizon" [9, p. 11].

A few product categories are currently covered by performance requirements in EU legislation including minimum requirements on lifetime, e.g. certain electric motor applications and motor vehicles. Consumer appliances are currently mainly covered by energy consumption restrictions under the Ecodesign Directive [10]. These rules are specifically applicable to energy-related products, while the rules do not apply to transport means. The directive already provides the legal basis for

¹ In this paper the term "service life" is used synonymously to useful life. The International Electrotechnical Vocabulary – Part 192: Dependability [IEC 60050-192] defines useful life as time interval, from first use until user requirements are no longer met, due to economics of operation and maintenance, or obsolescence.

other environmentally related requirements. But that has hitherto been explored to a limited extent. Therefore the Commission underlines in its Circular Economy Action Plan, that it "will promote the reparability, upgradability, durability, and recyclability of products by developing product requirements relevant to the circular economy in its future work under the Ecodesign Directive as appropriate, and taking into account the specificities of different product groups" [6, p. 4]. The Ecodesign Work Plan for 2016-2019 [11] elaborates how this will be implemented. In order to set minimum requirements on these aspects and check for compliance, appropriate (measuring) standards are needed. Therefore the commission issued already end of 2015 the standardisation request M/543 to the European standardisation organisations [12]. The CEN-CENELEC Technical Committee 10, known as 'Energy-related products – Material Efficiency Aspects for Ecodesign' has been established to prepare the standards.² According to the mandate the standards should be available by March 2019. Even though the mandate addresses horizontal (not product-specific) standards, it can reasonably be expected to generate momentum for and implementations of specific product standards.

The effect of the service life on the environmental impacts caused over the entire life cycle of a product needs to be determined by the assessment of the environmental impacts³ for each product category. E.g. on the one hand the extension of the lifetime can reduce impacts related to the manufacturing and disposal of a product. On the other hand, technological progress, like increased energy efficiency in case of energy-using products, can lead to lower environmental impacts compared to the case when less energy efficient products are used longer. However examples show, that for the reached state of energy efficiency of new energy-using products, those with a long service life are, in a majority of cases, more environmentally friendly and thus more resource-saving. For example, the cumulative energy demand and global warming potential of a short-life washing machine (lifetime 5 years) are approx. 40 % higher compared to a long-life washing machine (lifetime 20 years) [2, p. 51]. Bovea et al. [15] studied a representative sample of nine categories of small household electrical and electronic equipment, considering different types of repair for each category and the replacement of the equipment in different years of its lifespan. For all the analyzed categories, the repair & reuse strategy generally proved environmentally better performance than replacement.

CENELEC = Comité Européen de Normalisation Électrotechnique (European Committee for Electrotechnical Standardization)

² The CEN-CLC/TC 10 has created 6 Working Groups that are responsible for the development of the standardisation deliverables: WG 1 Terminology, WG 2 Durability, WG 3 Upgradability, Ability to repair, Facilitate Re-Use, Use or re-used components, WG 4 Ability to re-manufacture, WG 5 Recyclability, recoverability, RRR index, Recycling, Use of recycled materials, WG 6 Documentation and/or marking regarding information relating to material efficiency of the product. CEN = Comité Européen de Normalisation (European Committee for Standardization)

³ See for example [13] and [14]

2 Product lifetime

2.1 Basic principles governing technical product lifetime

Consumers must be able to rely on a certain minimum product lifetime during which repairs will not be necessary, or only very rarely. Thereby it is important to differentiate between the different methods used to predict, assess and verify the lifetime of a product.

Regarding product failure rates the bathtub curve (see Figure below) is widely used for describing differenty types of failures.

- Early failures occur in the early life of a product and are mostly due to manufacturing faults. Frequent early failures indicate insufficient quality control.
- Random failures occur during the product's characteristic service life and are attributed to faulty maintenance, maloperation or critical unplanned stresses. Electronic components in particular may fail, for example, due to overheating.
- Wear-out failures occur in the late life of a product and are attributed to material ageing and material fatigue.





Figure 1: Bathtub curve of failure rate (Weibull distribution).

The more manufacturers design products for critical applications and the more they test externally supplied components, manufacturing processes and, where possible, also the finished products as part of their quality assurance, the more likely they will be able to eliminate or minimise the occurrence of early and random failures.

It is, for example, customary to forecast a product's Mean Time To Failure (MTTF) which, for example, is used as part of conformity assessments for the safety of machinery (under EN ISO 13849-1). It is however a statistical metric/indicator determined by modelling. It is not a factually guaranteed minimum lifetime or a timespan of guaranteed failure-free operation. The latter can mostly only be determined or guaranteed by means of testing of the final product, which can be challenging for complex products or products with a rather long service time. For products of low usage intensity, endurance tests are feasible and are used, for example, in product tests conducted by the various consumer organisations or are part of the requirements that need to be met for a product to be awarded with an ecolabel. For example, a hairdryer must pass a 400-hour endurance test to be awarded with the German ecolabel Blue Angel (*Der Blaue Engel*). For more complex products it is necessary to conduct a range of different (reliability) tests of functions in order to be able to assess the durability of the final product. For vacuum cleaners, for example, these include the operational lifetime of the motor in hours, the impact resistance of the nozzle, the minimum durability of the hose with repeated bending, and the ability to withstand the impact of slamming into door sills and jambs.

For long-lived electric appliances (greater than 10 years) with high usage frequency (e.g. TV sets: 4 hours per day) or appliances in continuous operation (such as refrigerators and freezers), lifetime test procedures for final products are often unfeasible with regard to the duration of the test. For example, endurance testing for a TV set for a ten-year service life with four hours of operation time per day would take more than 1.5 years. *Stiftung Warentest*⁴ conducts endurance tests of washing machines as part of their product tests. Assuming an average of 184 wash cycles per year, the organisation completes 1840 wash cycles representing an average ten-year lifespan, which takes approximately nine months of testing with consequent high costs.

The Ecodesign Directive already offers a suitable legal framework for laying down product-specific requirements for the lifetime of energy-related products. Initial requirements have been established for example for vacuum cleaners with a minimum operational motor lifetime of 500 hours [16]. In case an endurance test of the final product is impractical, minimum requirements for the quality or lifetime of particularly important components or for components which are most likely to fail or design requirements improving reparability, can be important steps forward.

Manufacturers voluntarily offer warranty coverage, e.g. 2-10 years for selected refrigerator compressors or motors of washing machines, but these differ from manufacurer to manufacturer, as well as within different member states markets. Thus, warranty coverage may be used as indication for roughly setting up a minimum lifetime range as initial specification. For a refrigerator, this could cover important parameters like lifetime of the compressor (e.g. tested in an accelerated test) and number of door opening and closing [17]. These parameters could be set to ensure a minimum lifetime for example in the range of 7-10 years.

Similarly, software content (such as smartphone app steering devices, etc.) has to be considered part of the lifetime coverage. If a fridge is for example equipped with computer programming, it has to be conformed to the lifetime requirements. This would mean that there should be no digital programming installed which gets outdated or disables functions before the average expected lifetime of the fridge. A product even more reliant on computer capacity and programming – a typical case is the LED smart TV – should have to be equipped with lasting computer design and be able to get updating of programs for at least a certain service life.

⁴ German consumer organisation engaged in investigating and comparing goods and services

2.2 Lifetimes: Satisfaction, Desires and Expectations

Studies conducted in Austria [18, 19] collected data on the service life of durable goods (including clothes, consumer electronics, small and large household appliances, furniture) and the acquisition, usage, and disposal of mobile phones in order to investigate on satisfaction, expectations and reality on consumer goods lifetime.

Opinions are divided over whether the durability of durable goods is considered satisfactory or not. Whereas about 45 % of the respondents indicated to be (rather) satisfied with current product lifetimes, almost 30 % indicated to be (rather) unsatisfied. The lowest level of satisfaction is expressed for consumer electronics. It was found out that consumers generally assume that products will last only for relatively short periods. The study describes a downward spiral of consumer expectations with regard to product lifetime as follows: "A vicious circle ... arises in the interaction of consumers and manufacturers: the consumers' bad experiences when it comes to product lifetime reinforce their suspicion that "planned obsolescence" is a real thing and thus diminish the consumers' trust as well as their willingness to spend more money on a long-lasting products or to have an item repaired. Moreover, advertising and rapid product development cycles impact social standards and lead consumers to feel that they are old-fashioned and lagging behind technological developments. At the same time, the low demand for long-lasting products in turn reinforces the producers' perception that consumers always want the latest product, which results in the manufacturing of products with even shorter lifespans. This interaction thus results in a continuous and worrying downward spiral of consumer expectations with regard to lifetime and producer expectations with regard to service life, which finds expression in ever faster cycles of replacement purchases" [18, p. 75].

A consumer survey conducted as part of the study Prakash et al. [2] showed that approximately one third of the interviewees were dissatisfied with the products' lifetime. Table 1 shows the results for the product groups TV, washing machine, notebook, hand mixer and kettle and the correlation between the reached product lifetime and customer satisfaction.

How satisfied were you with the	τv		Washing machine		Notebook		Hand mixer		Kettle		Ø
lifespan	%	years	%	years	%	years	%	years	%	years	
l was positively surprised.	16 %	14	18 %	17	10 %	7	14 %	17	7 %	10	13 %
It met my expectations.	43 %	11	38 %	13	24 %	6	36 %	12	36 %	7	36 %
It was time to replace the device	21 %	10	12 %	11	28 %	5	10 %	10	17 %	6	18 %
I expected a longer duration of use.	11 %	7	18 %	8	23 %	4	21 %	6	24 %	4	19%
The lifespan was much too short.	6 %	4	11 %	5	13 %	3	13 %	3	12 %	2	11 %
l do not know.	3 %	7	3 %	9	2 %	4	6 %	8	4 %	5	3 %
Number of total respondents (n)	878		734		660		501		692		

Table 1:	Customer satisfaction with life time of devices based on an internet-survey [2] ⁵

2.3 Reparability

The repair of a product during its period of use, e.g. by replacing failed components or even just a single wear part, avoids the entire product turning into waste, contributes to the extension of product lifetime, and is often a precondition for reuse. This contributes in particular to reduce the intensive utilisation of environmental resources used to manufacture the product, and to reduce the quantity of resources used per service unit. Moreover, the expansion of repair offers can make relevant contributions to jobs creation and may also encourage a stronger bond between owner and product. The repair sector has seen major structural change in recent years. There has been a significant decline in product repair service offered by specialist and professional craftsmen, i.e. the "classic" repair entities, and the major manufacturers' service offers are focussed on fewer and fewer centralised maintenance centres. At the same time, however, self-organised repair initiatives are springing up in more and more locations, and specialised internet-based fora for information exchange are being established [20]. This applies e.g. especially for smartphones. Research in Nordic

⁵ The column "%" shows, how much percent of the total respondents (n) provided the respective answer. The column years shows the average use time, which the devices of the respective respondents reached. For example 6 % of 878 respondents, which had disposed a washing machine, answered that the lifespan was too short. The average lifespan of this devices has been 4 years, while the average lifespan of the washing machines where the respondents have been positively surprised was 14 years.

countries revealed, that high purchase price and lack of further disruptive new features have slowed down consumer replacement rates of older phones with new. This has also led to increased demand for repair services and for second-hand phones as consumers become aware of their high commodity value. And businesses are exploiting the new opportunities by developing circular business models and services that gain value from extending the lifetime of phones [21].

2.3.1 Socioeconomic impacts

A study on behalf of the European Commission [22] investigated the potential socioeconomic impacts of different measures to support repair for four product groups (washing machines, dishwashers, vacuum cleaners and coffee machines). The investigated scenarios covered measures to ensure:

- availability of spare parts for at least a certain amount of years,
- provision of information to consumers on possibilities to repair the product,
- provision of technical information to repair professionals and
- provision of technical information to consumers to facilitate simple self-repairs.

The assessment revealed positive social impacts for the EU, while the impacts of all scenarios are distributed differently among stakeholders: "A small slowing down on the projected increase of the turnover appears, especially on manufacturers and retailers. Specifically for manufacturers part of this loss will appear outside the EU where a large share of products are manufactured. On the other hand, the gains of turnover on the repair sector will occur largely on SMEs and social enterprises located in the EU. This increase might be partially absorbed by retailers and manufacturers as new opportunities for the development of in-house retail services might appear. In addition, research and development activities are expected to increase so that any technology-related requirements needed to implement the scenarios are met. Simultaneously, the administrative burdens both for businesses and public authorities will be limited" [22, p. 86].

With regard to the impact on jobs the study concluded "As in the case of the economic impacts, there will be some reductions on the projected increase of jobs, part of which will occur outside the EU. However, the creation of a significant amount of jobs in the repair sector corresponds to the development of quality jobs, largely in SMEs and smaller companies" [22, p. 86].

2.3.2 Taxation rebate

In order to promote repair, it is necessary to balance the unfavourable price relationship between labour-intensive repair work and the purchase of new products, which are often produced in automated manufacturing or low-wage countries.

The value added tax (VAT) rate represents a potential point of intervention. The EU Directive on the value added tax system [23] provides the possibility for member states to apply reduced VAT rates for locally provided labour-intensive repair services (repair services for bicycles, shoes, leather goods, clothing and household linen including mending and alterations).

In addition to VAT, income tax is also a suitable instrument for this purpose. Labour costs for the repair of household items (including large electrical appliances) can in some member states already be claimed as craftsmen's services within the frame of tax relief.

Sweden brought both instruments into force to support longer product service life: 1) a reduction of VAT from 25 % to 12 % for consumer goods repair, such as bicycles and clothes, 2) an income tax credit for repair of household appliances, such as washing machines and refrigerators. The latter may give 50 % of the cost of work performed up to a yearly limit. The measures apply from 1 January 2017 and are expected to be evaluated in the near future.⁶

2.4 Consumer information on lifetime and guarantee

Lifetime is one of several planning parameters taken into account in the process of designing and manufacturing components and parts of appliances. Since consumers do not have access to these parameters, this lack in transparency results in consumers not being able to make purchasing decisions based on their own needs (asymmetric information). Therefore measures to improve consumer information are important instruments that allow consumers to make purchasing decisions in favour of long-lived products. However, it must be feasible for the market surveillance authorities to verify compliance with such information requirements. The Ecodesign Directive provides for example information requirements on the lifetime of lamps [24] or the number of charging cycles that the batteries of notebook computers can withstand [25]. However, longer lasting products are subject to restrictions with regard to verifiability of lifetime information as described in Chapter 2.1.

As part of the debate on obsolescence there are currently discussions on a potential extension of the statutory legal guarantee period (beyond a two-year period), possibly in combination with an extension of the period for the reversal of the burden of proof (beyond a six-month period). Adjustments to the statutory legal guarantee period and the period for the reversal of the burden of proof are generally legally permissible. However, there are limitations and therefore there are certain doubts as to whether the legal guarantee legislation is indeed suited to sufficiently addressing premature product failure.

A legal guarantee as in the EU-Consumer Rights Directive [26] affects the relationship between buyer and seller. However, it is the manufacturer who has a direct impact on product characteristics such as the product's lifetime. Moreover, a legal guarantee only covers defects that existed at the time of delivery (i.e. the passing of the risk); it does not cover subsequent wear and tear.

2.5 Eco-labels and durability

Ecolabels are an established means of guiding consumer choices towards product and service options with better environmental performance. The award criteria of ISO Type I product-specific ecolabels are based on life cycle approaches and aim at steering the market into an environmentally less harmful direction.

Requirements on durability, reparability and availability of spare parts have been important requirements for Type I ecolabels like the European Ecolabel, the Nordic Swan, the Blue Angel, the Austria Ecolabel and others since their implementation.

Suikkanen and Nissinen [27] analysed Product Group Specific Criteria Documents of two ISO Type I Ecolabelling Schemes: the EU Ecolabel (Flower) and the Nordic Ecolabel (Swan). Product-groupspecific criteria included requirements on durability, upgradability and reparability. Many of the EU

⁶ Information from Swedish Tax Agency.

Ecolabel product groups include requirements for design for reparability and availability of spare parts. The criteria then require design that allows a professional engineer or service personnel to change parts with tools that are normally available for them. The criteria for Flushing Toilets, Water Based Heaters, Imaging Equipment, Computers, Televisions, Furniture and Mattresses have an obligatory commercial guarantee period, which ranges from 2 to 10 years depending on the product group. Other durability requirements include product quality, durability testing and mechanical resistance criteria. A similar approach can be found for the other type I Ecolabel like Nordic Swan, Blue Angel and Austrian Ecolabel.

Suikkanen and Nissinen remind that the underlying motivation in the transition to circular economy is to create more value from fewer resources, and that one approach to value creation is increasing the amount of time during which a resource provides value [29].

2.6 Product Group examples

2.6.1 Data on electrical and electronic appliances

The service life of many electrical and electronic appliances, such as refrigerators, smartphones or television sets, are indeed getting ever shorter. This has been shown in a study commissioned by the German Environment Agency and conducted by the Öko-Institut e. V. and the University of Bonn [2], which investigated 13 product groups of electrical and electronic appliances. There are many reasons for premature new purchases. Especially in the area of consumer electronics and in information technology, technological leaps or the desire for a new device often trigger new purchases (i.e. psychological obsolescence). At the same time, however, increasing numbers of appliances fail within the first five years of their service life – for example, the number of large household appliances being replaced within the first five years of their service life due to a defect (i.e. material obsolescence) increased from 3.5 % in 2004 to 8.3 % in 2013 (see Figure 2). This phenomenon was evidenced in another study on obsolescence, which highlighted that smartphones are replaced more often than T-shirts due to a variety of reasons, which include restricted functionality (of the old smart phone) and desire for a new product in the first place. Interestingly, the leading reason for a new purchase depends on the investigated target group (e.g. over 30 versus under 20), [17].

Journalistic investigations highlighted also that in certain cases, failures of products are due to the employment of very cheap, low-quality components (such as condensers or resistances in electronical appliances, etc.) during the production phase [30]. The investigations also highlighted that such failures might be even easy and cheap to be detected and repaired; but often, consumers are discouraged by the perceived burdens to bring the appliance to repair (e.g. high repair costs, lack of time, etc.) causing the replacement of the appliance with a new purchased one.





Available recorded data for certain products show their perceived service life. Dissemination of actually perceived lifespan could inform users and support longer lasting use of a product. Some of the widespread disbelief about product endurance could be overcome.

Table 2: Average service life of products. Experience values in years⁷

Product	Durability, years
freezer	> 15
domestic oven	14-19
printers, PC, etc.	~ 5
LCD TV-set/screen	4-7
average washing machine, dish-washer, wash dryer, fridge and freezer	> 10

The table gathers some reported use experience data. Data for this kind of long lasting products are available from households and manufacturers.

2.6.2 Textiles Useful Life

The environmental and resources saving potential by extending textiles useful life is high. Prolonged use of garments and other textiles would have various implications for the production system, recycling, and reuse. But today much of these aspects are neither implemented in practice, nor promoted by any kind of policy measure. In fact, trends go in the opposite direction, and growing amount of products which are not adapted for a longer use time enter the market.

⁷ See [2], [9] and Gifam.fr

Design, aesthetics and fashion may have a role in promoting current consumption patterns, but they might also leverage and promote more sustainable use of textiles. A garment is normally not worn out until after 100-200 wearing occasions, but the actual use pattern today is by far much shorter.

Quality aspects of textiles are not yet adressed by any EU mandatory instrument. Different instruments may be considered e.g., the textile fibre labelling regulation [31] could be complemented with provisions addressing textile performance. Possible parameters relating to useful life are quality requirement based on e.g. a "tear and wear"-test and number of washing cycles and loss of fibres⁸. Recycled material content and sustainability of material employed in the production phase could be other factors to be considered. It has been suggested to set up a regulatory instrument on labelling textile products for the content of dangerous chemicals [32]. As an option, such an instrument may also include useful life-related parameters.

2.6.3 Regulation for Motor Vehicles

Useful life definitions are set for exhaust emission control systems in road vehicles. These may be expressed as limits for minimum years of use, distance driven, and/or engine running times. The requirements are performance based. The principle is that the emission limit values should be complied, and parts of the vehicle that belongs to the emission control system should not need repair or replacements before the useful life of the exhaust emission control system is reached. For cars, these limits have been already extended a couple of times to take into account improvements in available technical solutions, responding to environmental concerns and consumers demand. Figure 3 sums up aspects of the development in a simplified way. It displays durability requirements for stages of emission control technology for petrol-fuelled cars starting with the introduction of catalysts. The regulation on type approval of motor vehicles (euro 5 and euro 6), [33] requires that durability testing of pollution control devices for type approval shall cover 160 000 km.

⁸ E.g. based on ASTM D3181 Tear & Wear Test, ASTM 4966 or ISO 12947-2:2016 Abrasion Test.



Figure 3: Car Emission Technology Useful Life compliance at x1000 km.

3 Core actions and policy instruments

In order to decrease environemtal impacts and increase resource conservation, it would be beneficial to introduce measures countering obsolescence. The following core recommendations address stakeholder, and especially policy and decision makers at the European level. They are intended to support and inspire the present debate on circular economy and the development of adequate policy measures.

A priority must be a reliable minimum product lifetime during which repairs will only very rarely be necessary if at all. Moreover, there is a need to lowering barriers to repairing. This is not only meant as the technical feasibility of repairing an item (product reparability), but also as the availability of repair services, of the information required to carry out repairs including diagnostic software tools, as well as of the provision of affordable spare parts for adequate periods of time. The increasing complexity of modern products and remote-controlled software-based error diagnostics is a great challenge for independent repairers. Therefore, there is a need to improve the framework conditions for independent repair services.

Other important instruments include measures to improve consumer information (e.g. on the availability of spare parts or unambiguous declarations of wearing parts) with a view to supporting decisions by consumers to purchase products with longer lifespans.

However, consumers must also make their contribution by using products for as long as possible, by repairing (e.g. in repair cafés) items or letting them be repaired, or by passing items they no longer use on to other users (e.g. in swap shops). Moreover, legal horizontal provisions are recommended, like a manufacturers' duty to declare and commit to a self-determined guaranteed product lifespan (duty to issue a guarantee statement).

1. Establishment of product requirements with regard to minimum lifetime and reparability, potentially initially for product components as a first step:

The EU Ecodesign Directive [10] already offers a suitable regulatory framework for product-specific requirements in terms of the lifetime of energy-related products. When existing regulations are under review or new regulations are being passed, requirements for product lifetime or at least for the lifetime of components particularly prone to defects should be set out where appropriate and verifiable.

With its Action Plan for the Circular Economy [6] the EU Commission announced that it will promote, amongst other aspects, the reparability, upgradability and durability of products and develop, as appropriate, product requirements in its future work under the Ecodesign Directive. When establishing minimum requirements under the Ecodesign Directive, it will be important to ensure verifiability (reproducibility and testing effort) so as to enable market surveillance authorities to verify compliance with such requirements.

Therefore, lifetime should be considered as an important aspect when regulations are adopted or reviewed. However, it will probably not be possible that product-specific implementation measures will be adopted for all energy-related products, especially for smaller devices, for which an implementing measure might not be developed. Moreover, the scope of the Ecodesign Directive is currently limited to energy-related products. Complementary measures such as the manufacturer's duty to issue a guarantee statement (see point 3 below) could mitigate these limitations as well as the constraints in terms of verifiability described earlier.

When setting up requirements for new products or revising regulations under the Ecodesign Directives, requirements on providing information on production date on the name plate may be introduced. For example, such information are available already for pumps. But a drawback is that this is very patchy, due to separate law making for each product types, e.g. fridges are not required to carry the production date.

Aspects of durability and reparability should be further strengthened in Ecolabels. Future revisions of product-specific criteria present further opportunities to apply requirements on extended product life times, and especially upgradability and reparability, for a broader range of product groups. In addition to increase the requirements on longer life spans of products, various models of value creation by using more durable ecolabelled products should be researched. This could include, for example, creating ecolabel criteria for sharing economy services.

The evaluations of the Ecodesign Directive [34, 35] did not recommend the extension of the Ecodesign Directive to non-energy related products. However, under the perspective of resource efficiency, it need to be investigated again which reduction of environmental impact could be tackled for non-energy-related products. It is particularly important to seek ways to improve the use patterns of large volume products with potentially large environmental burden. An example are textile products, for which requirements for the various aspects of durability have been prepared by several Type I eco-labels, like the EU Ecolabel (Flower) and the German Blue Angel, and the Nordic Ecolabel (Swan). A recent project funded by the Nordic Council of Ministers drafted possible eco-design requirements for textiles and furniture [36].

2. Information on reparability:

Consumers would be able to better to assess the reparability of a product during the purchase if they were given information on the period of time for which spare parts will continue to be available and on their costs. Therefore the Interest Group on Green and Circular Economy supports the EU Commission's announcement to explore the possibility of relevant horizontal requirements under the Ecodesign Directive. Moreover in general, methods should be developed to communicate the reparability of products to the consumer at the point of sale, including availability of spare parts and repair services as well as technical reparability (e.g. accessibility and exchangeability of components).

3. Introduction of a mandatory obligation to indicate a guaranteed lifespan (manufacturer's duty to issue a guarantee statement):

It should be made mandatory for manufacturers to indicate a manufacturer's guarantee statement for their products [37, 38]. This should include the possibility to make a so-called "zero statement", i.e. to indicate a "zero" period and thus to not offer guarantee cover. In contrast, a period greater than "zero" would represent a material guarantee that is binding for the manufacturer. If the product's lifetime falls short of the stated period, the buyer should have the right to claim product repair under the commercial guarantee (e.g. repair, reimbursement of the sales price, or replacement of the item). While the legal guarantee under sales law governs the relationship between seller and buyer, such an instrument would allow for claims to be made directly against the manufacturer, thus holding liable those that are responsible for the product's constitution. The fact that the product would be guaranteed to be free of defects not only at the time of purchase but for the entire commercial guarantee period, would be another advantage. This instrument should preferably be established at the European level where it could be linked to the Consumer Sales Directive [39], which in its Article 6 establishes minimum requirements for voluntarily given guarantees set out in consumer contracts. In accordance with Article 8 (2), Member States may adopt more stringent provisions, therefore the instrument could also be introduced at national level. This option for Member states should be preserved at the present decission about a Proposal for a Directive on certain aspects concerning contracts for the (online) sales of goods⁹.

Additionally, a prolongation of the general legal guarantee is useful especially with an extension of the period for the reversal of proof to two years. However for products with a traditional much longer life time (for example large household appliances), further measures are needed. While we expressively support the activities for standardization to pave the way for minimum lifetime requirements, we recognize the limitations to measure life time and to execute market surveillance. Therefore we would be in favour of the obligatory commercial guarantee statement. In case a commercial guarantee statement is not supported, we recommend prolonging legal guarantee rights for explicitly named product categories.

4. Improved framework conditions for repairs:

Available spare parts, repair instructions and diagnostic software should always be available also to independent repairers and repair initiatives as well as to re-use centres. The provisions in force with

⁹ COM(2015) 635 final. The Commission has adopted an amended Proposal (COM(2017) 637 final), which extends the scope of the initial proposal to cover also face-to-face sales.

respect to motor vehicles¹⁰ set an example in this regard. The relevant provisions should also be applied to electrical and electronic appliances.

Additionally, a significant number of repair initiatives have been established based on civil society engagement. For reasons of cost it is likely that repairs of appliances in certain product groups will only be carried out if the consumers themselves are able to do so (e.g. changing a smartphone display), which also necessitates access to repair instructions and spare parts.

Furthermore the development of repair- and reuse networks should be supported by information and education measures and funding.

5. Reduced value added tax for repair services:

The EU Directive on the common system of value added tax [23] already permits the use of reduced VAT rates for locally provided, labour-intensive repair services (e.g. repair services for bicycles, shoes, clothing and household linen). An examination of the possibility of extending reduced VAT rates to other repair services may be undertaken and discussed. These aspects could be introduced into the current discussion on the proposal of the Commission to modernize the value added tax system, by establishing the destination principle and by granting member states more leeway for setting VAT-rates.

Member states can also decide that labour costs for repairs of household equipment (repaired within and outside the household) are tax-deductible in the context of income tax. For this purpose, a catalogue of household goods may be drawn up (particularly including electrical and electronic equipment), for which labour costs of repair (outside the household) can be taken into account within the tax return.

6. Strengthening product appreciation:

Psychological obsolescence due to fast fashion trends is often a reason for consumers to dispose goods which are still fully functioning. Awareness campaigns targeting both producers and consumers would be necessary. This should inter alia make clear what impact virgin production have on environment and health, including the use of water, energy, chemicals, etc.

Measures and initiatives contributing to extended product service live and joint use of products should be afforded greater support. This includes e.g. structural funding for such initiatives. Measures to promote re-use should be strengthened as part of the advancement of the circular economy. The potential for reuse might be particularly relevant for a variety of goods and products such as electric and electronic appliances, furniture, vehicles, toys, etc.

For example, <u>www.willhaben.at</u> is an Austrian platform for private, second hand sell of goods of any kind, with an average of 100.000 insertions per day and over 4.7 million insertions registered. It was visited over 40.2 million times since its creation in 2006. Clearly, the digitalization of market places boosted the possibilities for private selling of goods. Hence the potential of online, second hand markets for tackling the consumption model "buy – use- throw away" should also be taken into account. This also suggests that in the future, "second hand markets for broken goods" might be

¹⁰ Regulation (EC) No. 715/2007 [33], the respective implementing regulation (EC) No. 692/2008 [40] as well as the amendment of both by regulation (EU) No. 566/2011 [41].

established for the supply of spare parts needed from repair centres. This would bring an economic value also to unwanted end of life goods.

4 Literature

- Bertling, J.; Hiebel, M.; Pflaum, H.; Nühlen, J. (2014): Arten und Entstehungstypen frühzeitiger Produktalterung – Entwicklung eines Obsoleszenz-Portfolios. Umwelt Magazin 3/2014.
- [2] Prakash, S; Dehoust, G.; Gsell, M.; Schleicher, T.; Stamminger, R. (2016): Impact of the service life of products on their environmental impact - creation of an information basis and development of strategies against obsolescence. UBA-Texte 11/2016.
- [3] European Economic and Social Committee (2013): Towards more sustainable consumption: industrial product lifetimes and restoring trust through consumer information. CCMI/112.
- [4] BEUC The European Consumer Organisation (2015): Durable goods: More sustainable products, better consumer rights.
- [5] RREUSE The Reuse and Recycling EU Social Enterprises network (2015): Improving product reparability: Policy options at EU level.
- [6] European Commission (2015): Closing the loop An EU action plan for the Circular Economy (COM(2015)614).
- [7] European Parliament (2017): Report on a longer lifetime for products: benefits for consumers and companies (2016/2272(INI)).
- [8] German Environment Agency (2017): Strategies against obsolescence Ensuring a minimum product lifetime and improving product service life as well as consumer information.
- [9] Montalvo, C.; Peck, D.; Rietveld, E. (2016): A Longer Lifetime for Products: Benefits for Consumers and Companies. Study on behalf of the European Parliament's Committee on Internal Market and Consumer Protection (IMCO).
- [10] Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 establishing a framework for the setting of ecodesign requirements for energy-related products (OJ L 285 of 31.10.2009, p. 10).
- [11] Communication from the Commission: Ecodesign Working Plan 2016-2019 (COM(2016)773).
- [12] European Commission (2015): Commission Implementing Decision of 17.12.2015 on a Standardisation Request to the European Standardisation Organisations as regards Ecodesign Requirements on Material Efficiency Aspects for Energy-related Products in Support of the Implementation of Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council, C(2015) 9096 final.

- [13] DEFRA (2011): Longer product lifetimes. Final Report. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, UK.
- [14] Ardente, F.; Mathieux, F. (2014): Environmental assessment of the durability of energy using products: Method and application. Journal of Cleaner Production 74/2014, p.62-73.
- Bovea, M.D.; Ibáñez-Forés, V.; Pérez-Belis, V. (2017): Repair vs. replacement: what is the best alternative for household small electric and electronic equipment? In: Bakker, C. & Mugge, R. (Eds.): Product Lifetimes And The Environment 2017. Conference Proceedings, pp. 51-53. 8-10 November 2017, Delft, NL. Delft University of Technology and IOS Press.
- [16] Commission Regulation (EU) No 666/2013 of 8 July 2013 implementing Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for vacuum cleaners (OJ L 192 of 13.7.2013, p. 24).
- [17] Boulos, S.; Sousanoglou, A.; Evans, L.; Lee, J.; King, N.; Facheris, C.; Iraldo, F.; Nucci, B.; Donelli, M. (2015): The Durability of Products. Report for European Commission, DG Environment ENV.F1/FRA/2010/0044.
- [18] Wieser, H.; Tröger, N. (2015): Die Nutzungsdauer und Obsoleszenz von Gebrauchsgütern im Zeitalter der Beschleunigung. Arbeiterkammer Wien. Wien.
- [19] Tröger, N.; Wieder, H.; Hübner, R. (2017): Patterns of consumer use and reasons for replacing durable goods. Arbeiterkammer Wien. Wien.
- [20] Jepsen, D.; Rödig, L. (2015): Wirksame Unterstützung von Reparaturnetzwerken.
 AbfallvermeidungsDialoge 2014-17. Ergebnisprotokoll der Dialogveranstaltung vom 2. Juni
 2015. Im Auftrag des Umweltbundesamtes. (Effective support of repair networks, waste prevention dialogs 2014-17. Minutes of the dialogue on 2nd of June 2015, on behalf of German Environment Agency).
- [21] Watson, D.; Gylling, A.C.; Tojo, N.; Throne-Holst, H.; Bauer, B. & Milios, L. (2017): Circular Business Models in the Mobile Phone Industry. TemaNord 2017/560.
- [22] Monier, V.; Tinetti, B.; Mitsios, A.; De Prado Trigo, A.; Ax, C.; Medhurst, J. (2016): Study on socioeconomic impacts of increased reparability. European Commission, DG ENV.
- [23] Directive 2006/112/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 28 November 2006 on the common system of value added tax (OJ L 347 of 11.12.2006, p.1).
- [24] Commission Regulation (EC) No 244/2009 of 18 March 2009 implementing Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for non-directional household lamps (OJ L 76 of 24.3.2009, p. 3).
- [25] Commission Regulation (EU) No 617/2013 of 26 June 2013 implementing Directive
 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for computers and computer servers (OJ L 175 of 27.6.2013, p. 13).
- [26] Directive 2011/83/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2011 on consumer rights, amending Council Directive 93/13/EEC and Directive 1999/44/EC of the

European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Council Directive 85/577/EEC and Directive 97/7/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council Text with EEA relevance (OJ L 304 of 22.11.2011, p. 64).

- [27] Suikkanen, J. & Nissinen, A. (2017b): Do ecolabels extend product service times? An Analysis of the Product Group Specific Criteria of the European Union and Nordic Ecolabels. In: Bakker C & Mugge R (Eds.): Product Lifetimes And The Environment 2017. Conference Proceedings, pp. 387-390. 8-10 November 2017, Delft, NL. Delft University of Technology and IOS Press.
- [28] Suikkanen, J. & Nissinen, A. (2017): Circular economy and the Nordic Swan ecolabel An Analysis of Circularity in the Product-Group-Specific Environmental Criteria. TemaNord 2017/553, Nordic Council of Ministers.
- [29] Franklin-Johnson, E.; Figge, F.; Canning, L. (2016): Resource duration as a managerial indicator for Circular Economy Performance. Journal of Cleaner Production 2016/133, p. 589-598.
- [30] RTBF documentary "L'obsolescence programmée" by Xavier Vanbuggenhout
- [31] Regulation (EU) No 1007/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27
 September 2011 on textile fibre names and related labelling and marking of the fibre composition of textile products and repealing Council Directive 73/44/EEC and Directives
 96/73/EC and 2008/121/EC of the European Parliament and of the CouncilCommission (OJ L 272 of 18.10.2011, p. 1).
- [32] Roos, S.; Jönsson, C.; Posner, S (2017): Labelling of Chemicals in Textiles. Nordic Textile Initiative, Nordic Working Paper, NA 2017_915. Swedish Chemicals Agency, Hazardous Chemical Substances in Textiles, Report 8/2016.
- [33] Regulation (EC) No 715/2007 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 June 2007 on type approval of motor vehicles with respect to emissions from light passenger and commercial vehicles (Euro 5 and Euro 6) and on access to vehicle repair and maintenance information (OJ L 171 of 29.06.2007, p. 1).
- [34] CSES (2011): Evaluation of the Ecodesign Directive (2009/125/EC), Draft Final Report.
- [35] Ecofys (2014): Evaluation of the EU Energy Labelling and Ecodesign Directives, ENER/C3/2012-523.
- [36] Bauer, B.; Gylling, A.; Watson, D.; Remmen, A.; Hohenthal, C. & Jönbrink, A.-K. (2018): Early Formulation of Potential Ecodesign Requirements for Textiles and Furniture. TemaNord 2018/521.
- [37] Schlacke, S.; Alt, M.; Tonner, K.; Gawel, E.; Bretschneider, W. (2015): Strengthening sustainable product consumption through adaptations in civil and public law. UBA-Texte 72/2015.
- [38] Tonner, K.; Malcolm, R. (2017: How an EU Lifespan Guarantee Model Could Be Implemented Across the European Union. Study commissioned by the European Parliament.

- [39] Directive 1999/44/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 May 1999 on certain aspects of the sale of consumer goods and associated guarantees (OJ L 171 of 07.07.1999, p. 12).
- [40] Commission Regulation (EC) No 692/2008 of 18 July 2008 implementing and amending Regulation (EC) No 715/2007 of the European Parliament and of the Council on typeapproval of motor vehicles with respect to emissions from light passenger and commercial vehicles (Euro 5 and Euro 6) and on access to vehicle repair and maintenance information (OJ L 199 of 28.07.2008, p.1).
- [41] Commission regulation (EU) No 566/2011 of 8 June 2011 amending Regulation (EC) No
 715/2007 of the European Parliament and of the Council and Commission Regulation (EC) No
 692/2008 as regards access to vehicle repair and maintenance information (OJ L 158 of
 16.06.2011, p.1).